FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/23/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/23/2024 2:23 PM

Case #: 1037236

No. 85018-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHANNARY HOR, individually,

Petitioner,

VS.

THE CITY OF SEATTLE, et al.,

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Darrell L. Cochran WSBA No. 22851

Christopher E. Love WSBA No. 42832

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA PLLC

909 A Street, Suite 700 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 777-0799

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA ATTORNEYS AT LAW

I. Introduction

Our jury system's bedrock principle is that "trial is not just combat; it is also truth-seeking." *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 402, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997) (internal quotation omitted). Misrepresentations or misconduct by a party eviscerate that function. In such cases, rather than serving "as a vehicle for ascertainment of the truth," trial "accomplishe[s] little more than the adjudication of a hypothetical fact situation imposed by [the wrongdoer]'s selective disclosure of information." *Rozier v. Ford Motor Co.*, 573 F.2d 1332, 1339 (5th Cir. 1978).

When misrepresentation or misconduct taints a trial, it is impossible to know the effect on its outcome. What is knowable is that misrepresentation or misconduct prevents the opposing party from "fully and fairly" presenting the relevant portion of their case to the jury based on the full truth rather than incomplete evidence or outright lies. *Peoples State Bank v. Hickey*, 55 Wn. App. 367, 372, 777

P.2d 1056 (1989).

Such trials do not result in justice. Inaction by courts "continue[s] to perpetuate [that] harm." *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn.2d 417, 446, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022). That is why courts have an "affirmative duty" to remedy that harm by ordering a new trial in such cases. *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 430.

This is such a case. In 2006, Petitioner Channary Hor, a young Cambodian American woman innocently riding in a car, was rendered quadriplegic after Seattle Police Department ("SPD") Officers Aaron Grant and Adam Thorp activated their patrol cars' overhead emergency lights and gave chase. She sued Respondents City of Seattle, Grant, and Thorp, alleging a negligent police pursuit.

At trial seven years later, whether there was a negligent "pursuit" in violation of SPD policy turned on whether Grant had deactivated his emergency lights during

the chase. Hor testified at trial that the officers' lights had remained activated the entire time.

Grant testified at his deposition that he could not recall deactivating his lights. At trial, however, while wearing his police uniform, Grant created a credibility contest by testifying he had recently recalled when and where he had deactivated his lights. The jury found Respondents were not negligent.

In 2017, before committing suicide, Grant admitted to multiple law enforcement colleagues that his trial testimony had been false, dishonest, and that he had betrayed his badge.

Since then, Hor twice has moved for relief from judgment and a new trial. Both times the same trial court judge—who neither observed the underlying trial nor engaged in live, post-trial fact-finding with witnesses—has denied relief. After being reversed once, that judge took the superfluous action of entering written findings and

conclusions that Grant's admissions to false trial testimony were not credible; his irreconcilable deposition and trial testimony was "consistent"; and his trial testimony on a fact Respondents told the jury was the "center piece" of Hor's negligence theory was insignificant.

Although equally positioned to review the evidence, the Court of Appeals held that finality and deference to the trial court required affirming findings and credibility determinations that one panel member questioned as being unsupported by the record. *Hor v. City of Seattle*, No. 85018-1-I (April 18, 2024), at 10 min., 2 sec. through 10 min., 17 sec., https://tvw.org/video/division-1-court-of-appeals-2024041185/?eventID=2024041185.

That included deference to the trial court's conclusion that the trial's outcome would have been no different had Grant truthfully testified—an impossibly speculative barrier to relief already rejected by Washington law. And it included Division One's own rationalization that justice is

done where a party "fairly (if not fully)" presents their case to the jury by cross-examining a falsehood and presenting the resulting false credibility contest for the jury's determination.

Washington law has never required our appellate courts to perpetuate such harm for the sake of finality or deference to trial courts when they are equally positioned to assess the evidence under review. "[F]inality must give way to the greater value that justice be done." Shandola v. Henry, 198 Wn. App. 889, 895, 396 P.3d 395 (2017). Justice does not permit giving the benefit of doubt regarding а trial's outcome to the party whose misrepresentations or misconduct created it. Nor does it condone the submission of cases to juries without the full truth and verdicts potentially premised on lies.

Hor pleads a final time for justice in a Temple named for it. She asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II.

Appendix 1-25.

II. Court of Appeals Decision

Division One's unpublished affirmed the order denying Hor's motion for relief from judgment.

First, Division One rejected de novo review despite conceding "not all" factors for deferential review were present. Appendix 7.

Second, Division One acknowledged that CR 60(b)(4) relief does not require a showing that Grant's misrepresentations or misconduct were "dispositive or could or would [have] affected the verdict." Appendix 21. It then imposed that same erroneous legal standard by holding that even if it was false, Grant's trial testimony was "immaterial" to the jury's liability determination because the jury nonetheless could have returned a verdict for Respondents based on "other evidence," including "physical and objective evidence" supporting Respondents' proximate cause arguments. *Id.* 21.

Similarly, Division One acknowledged that CR 60(b)(4) requires a new trial where misrepresentations or misconduct prevented the movant from "fully and fairly presenting its case." Appendix 10 (internal quotation omitted). But it reframed the standard as whether Hor "could fully or fairly still present her case." *Id.* 16. It then held that Hor's case "was fairly (if not fully) before the jury" where she had impeached the credibility of Grant's false testimony with his true deposition testimony. *Id.* 16, 19-29.

Finally, it rejected Hor's "invocation" of courts' inherent authority to order a new trial to ensure substantial justice because *Henderson* did not "address CR 60(b) at any level" and "systemic biases are not comparable to a single witnesses' alleged regret with his prior testimony." *Id.* 25.

III. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Where the trial court's decision was not based on considerations extrinsic to the appellate record such as observations of the underlying trial, the tone and demeanor of live post-trial witness testimony, or expertise in mandatory factfinding under a statute or court rule, should appellate courts review de novo an order denying relief from judgment under CR 60(b)(4) for misrepresentation or misconduct and courts' affirmative duty to ensure substantial justice?
- Where CR 60(b)(4) relief does not require a showing that misrepresentation or misconduct affected the trial's outcome, did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Grant's false trial testimony did not require relief because other evidence supported a defense verdict on proximate cause, an issue never reached by the jury?
- 3. Where CR 60(b)(4) entitles a party to relief when misrepresentations or misconduct prevent them from "fully and fairly" presenting their case to the jury and the Court of Appeals conceded Hor was "not fully" able to present her negligence theory because of Grant's false testimony, did the Court of Appeals err in holding that CR 60(b)(4) did not require relief?

4. Where Grant falsely testified at trial as a uniformed police officer regarding a fact central to Hor's negligence theory, did the Court of Appeals err in holding courts' inherent authority and affirmative duty to ensure substantial justice neither applied nor required relief?

IV. Statement of the Case

A. Hor Was Rendered Quadriplegic After Grant and Thorp Chased a Car in Which She Was Innocently Riding

Division One's opinion addresses the facts but glosses over key points. Appendix 2-3, 11-20.

In May 2006, Officer Thorp approached a parked car on foot. CP 4711; 17 VRP 42-43. Omar Tammam was its driver; Hor was sitting in the passenger seat. CP 4711-712.

After Tammam refused Thorp's order to stop and fled, Grant and Thorp activated their emergency lights and gave chase in their patrol cars. CP 3491, 4711-4712; 17 VRP (Afternoon) 19-20, 23; 23 VRP 97. Hor suffered severe injuries rendering her quadriplegic after Tammam

crashed into a rock wall. CP 4712.

B. At Trial Respondents Denied the "Center Piece" of Hor's Negligence Case—That Grant Pursued Tammam's Car with His Emergency Lights Activated in Violation of SPD Policy

Hor sued, alleging a negligent police pursuit caused her injuries. CP 3107-3108. At trial, Respondents' opening statement told the jury that the "center piece [sic] of [Hor's] case is to make this a . . . vehicle pursuit, lights . . . on. . . . " CP 3210. They also explained to the jury the importance of whether Grant's lights were activated at the time of the crash to Hor's negligence theory: "Under a vehicle pursuit, under their policy, you have to have lights on" *Id.* 3212. They told the jury that no pursuit existed at the time of the crash because the officers had deactivated their emergency lights by then. CP 3208, 3211, 3213.

The trial evidence confirmed that fact's significance.

Respondents' standard of care expert testified that under

the policy an officer initiated a pursuit by continuing after a person with their lights activated. 51 VRP 104. According to the City's CR 30(b)(6) witness, an officer's excessive speed or continuous sight of a fleeing vehicle was irrelevant to whether a "pursuit" existed under the policy. 40 VRP 160; 41 VRP 18-19, 262; 2 VRP 33-34. The fact distinguishing merely "following" a car to "catch up" from a "pursuit" under the SPD policy was whether the officer had their emergency lights activated. 43 VRP 9.

In turn, Grant, Thorp, and Respondents' own standard of care expert admitted to the jury that a pursuit would have violated SPD policy or been unreasonable under the circumstances. 17 VRP 112-113; 20 VRP 70; CP 1114-1117, 3394.

Thus, one relevant fact remained regarding the existence of a negligent pursuit in violation of SPD policy: whether Grant had deactivated his emergency lights. Hor testified the officers' lights remained activated and visible

throughout the entire incident. CP 4319. Thorp could not recall. 21 VRP 140-41. Only Grant could rebut Hor's testimony.

Grant wore his police uniform while testifying. CP 3409. At his pretrial deposition, Grant had testified that he did not recall and could not testify "as a matter of fact" whether he had deactivated his lights. CP 3158. However, when asked to confirm this testimony at trial, Grant testified:

After going back down to the park and clarifying some things in my memory, I can.

CP 3354. He unequivocally testified regarding where he had deactivated his emergency lights during the incident. CP 3450-3451.

In turn, Respondents' standard of care expert testified that Grant was following, not pursuing, at the time of the crash because he had deactivated his emergency

lights. 50 VRP 69-70, 72.

Respondents' closing arguments regarding negligence focused on whether the "officers acted in a way that no reasonable police officer" would have acted. 53 VRP 123. They emphasized "there was no pursuit." Id. Referencing their trial distinction between mere 116. "following" and а pursuit—whose distinguishing characteristic was whether emergency lights were activated—they argued the officers' "decision to try to follow and figure out what [wa]s going on" was not negligent. *Id.* 123-124.

The jury found Respondents were not negligent. CP 1013. It did not reach whether Respondents' negligence proximately caused Hor's injuries. CP 1014.

C. The Trial Court Denied Hor's Motion for Relief for Judgment After Grant Admitted to Testifying Falsely at Trial

In 2017 local media reported that Grant, then a Lakewood Police Department ("LPD") officer, had

committed suicide after telling four LPD officers that his trial testimony had been "untruthful" and he "believed he lied under pressure to aid" the City's defense of the lawsuit. CP 784-788.

After obtaining evidence confirming this reporting, Hor moved for relief from judgment. *Hor v. City of Seattle*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 900, 905-907, 493 P.3d 151 (2021), *review denied*, 198 Wn.2d 1038, 501 P.3d 142 (2022) ("*Hor II*"). For example, in June 2017 LPD Chief Michael Zaro testified in an unrelated matter that Grant told him he was pressured by the City's attorneys into testifying falsely in Hor's lawsuit. CP 828, 830-831.

In 2018 a trial court judge who did not preside over Hor's underlying trial heard Hor's motion. CP 4714. The trial court concluded Grant's statements were inadmissible and denied Hor's motion. *Hor II*, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 907.

In 2020, Division One reversed and remanded for consideration of "the CR 60 standards anew" and further

proceedings. Id. at 911, 913.

D. The Same Trial Cort Judge Denied Hor's Motion for Relief from Judgment After Subsequent Discovery Confirmed Grant's Admissions to False Trial Testimony

On remand, Hor deposed Grant's LPD colleagues. Granted had admitted to those colleagues that, contrary to his trial testimony, he had not recalled at the time of trial whether he deactivated his emergency lights. CP 3975-77 (Officer Anders Estes); CP 3905-06, 3915-18 (Sergeant Michael Wulff); CP 3650-51, 3658 (Officer Jeremy Vahle); CP 3704-10, 3726-27 (Svea Pitts).

Specifically, Officer Jeremy Vahle testified that Grant told him before trial that he did not recall a "specific," "critical" detail that the City's attorneys "want[ed]" him to remember: "[w]here the emergency lights or emergency equipment went off." CP 3658. Vahle advised him not to "testify to something you don't know" or "don't remember." CP 3666.

After trial, Grant told Vahle he had "fucked up," not followed Vahle's advice, "dishonored [his] badge," "lied during his testimony," and was "not honest during his testimony." CP 3652, 3664-3665. Vahle testified that the "crux" of this conversation about Grant's false trial testimony was "[t]he emergency equipment being shut down . . . whether or not it was shut down" *Id.* 3665-3666. Consistent with Zaro's 2017 testimony, Vahle also testified that Grant stated he had also admitted to Zaro that he had lied during his trial testimony. CP 6645.

Although lacking any present memory five years after he had last testified regarding Grant's statements, Chief Zaro confirmed previous deposition testimony that Grant told him he had testified falsely at trial. CP 3830, 3854, 3869.

Finally, Pitts testified that Grant said he felt the City had "led him in a way that, you know, he really should say this and this and this, and he beat himself up for caving to

what they were suggesting," that his testimony was not "completely what he should have given," and that it was "dishonest." CP 3707, 3726-3727.

Ms. Hor again moved for relief under CR 60(b)(4), CR 60(b)(11), and the trial court's inherent authority to ensure substantial justice. CP 3074, 3092. Her motion was heard by the same trial court judge who had previously denied her relief. CP 4708.

After considering the trial record, briefing, and transcripts and prerecorded videos of post-trial depositions—but no live witness testimony—the trial court entered immediately preprepared written findings and conclusions denying relief after oral argument. CP 4708-4734; RP (Feb. 3, 2023) 33. CP 4708-4734; Appendix 26-53.

In pertinent part, the trial court concluded that Hor had "not established fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct," CP 4732 (Conclusion of Law 3), based on its

findings that Grant's trial testimony was "consistent" with his prior deposition testimony and did "not appear . . . false or dishonest," but, instead, Grant was "a deeply troubled man" who was "irrationally fixated" on this testimony. CP 4715 (Finding of Fact 8); CP 4728-29 (Finding of Fact 53).

It also concluded that "[t]he issue of when and where – or even whether – Grant turned on or off his emergency lights was not of controlling importance as to the determination of liability in the Hor trial," CP 4732 (Conclusion of Law 4), based on a finding that "[t]he emergency lights issue was not particularly significant in light of" the "objective" and "physical" evidence presented by Respondents. CP 4730 (Finding of Fact 57).

Division One's October 7, 2024 opinion affirmed. It denied Hor's timely motion for reconsideration on November 22, 2024. Appendix 54.

V. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

Α. Division One's Expansion of the Narrow **Exception to De Novo Review of Trial Court Considerations Decisions** Based Not on Extrinsic to the Appellate Record or Expertise in Mandatory Factfinding under Statutes or Court Rules Conflicts with Washington Appellate Decisions and Encourages Trial Courts to Insulate Such Decisions from Independent Appellate Review Through Entry of Superfluous **Findings and Conclusions**

In Washington, where "a trial court considers only documents" or has not "seen or heard testimony requiring it to assess the credibility of witnesses", the "general rule" is de novo review on appeal. *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 351, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003).

This makes sense. Trial courts who preside over a trial make decisions regarding post-trial relief based as much on their observations of the underlying proceedings as they do on the content of documents or transcripts. The appellate court has no opportunity to see or hear for itself proceedings that are extrinsic to the record. Deference to

that superior information is required. *Accord Halverson v. Anderson*, 82 Wn.2d 746, 752, 513 P.2d 827 (1973) (deferential review of order granting new trial based on misconduct where trial court "had observed all of the witnesses and the trial proceedings and had in mind the evidence which had been presented"); *Roberson v. Perez*, 123 Wn. App. 320, 331, 333, 96 P.3d 420 (2004) (internal quotation omitted) (deferential review of CR 60(4) order proper where "[t]he trial judge below was the same judge who heard the entire . . . case").

Likewise, when a trial court personally observes live testimony, its resolutions of conflicting testimony and determinations of weight, persuasiveness, and credibility involve assessing how witnesses said things—e.g., their tone and demeanor—as much as what they said. Typically, these factors also are unheard and unseen by an appellate court. There, too, deference is required. *Accord Duc Tan v. Le*, 177 Wn.2d 649, 670, 300 P.3d 356 (2013)

("Deference to factual determinations that turn on credibility" owed "because of the fact finder's unique opportunity to observe and weigh witness testimony"); Van Dyke v. Seattle Elec. Co., 55 Wash. 687, 689, 105 P. 137 (1909) (deference owed to "trial judge" who "has the privilege of seeing the witnesses" and "observe[d] their demeanor while on the stand, their manner of testifying, their frankness or lack of frankness; in fact, the many things that tend to discover truth that is hidden in the printed pages of the record"); State v. McCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, 477, 284 P.3d 793 (2012) (where factfinder "observed" the witnesses testify firsthand, we defer to the [factfinder]'s resolution of conflicting testimony, evaluation of witness credibility, and decisions regarding the persuasiveness and the appropriate weight to be given the evidence").

But when an appellate court is equally positioned to review the evidence, an appellate court "stands in the same position as the trial court in looking at the facts of the case." *Smith v. Skagit Cnty.*, 75 Wn.2d 715, 718, 453 P.2d 832, 835 (1969). They are "not bound by disputed findings of the trial court" and should "give the record an independent review." *Smith*, 75 Wn.2d at 718-19 (internal quotations omitted); *In re Estate of Nelson*, 85 Wn.2d 602, 605, 537 P.2d 765 (1975) (de novo review proper where trial court "did not have the opportunity to assess the credibility or weight of conflicting evidence by hearing live testimony"). The general rule of de novo review applies.¹

The Court has carefully limited the general rule's

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