FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/22/2025 12:20 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1037236

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHANNARY HOR, individually,

Appellant,

v.

THE CITY OF SEATTLE, et al.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brenda L. Bannon, WSBA #17962 OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH, SMOAK & STEWART, P.C. 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 5150 Seattle, WA 98101

Telephone: 206.693.7057 Facsimile: 206.693.7058

Email: brenda.bannon@ogletree.com

OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH, SMOAK & STEWART, P.C. 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 5150 | Seattle, WA 98101

Phone: 206-693-7057 | Fax: 206-693-7058

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. <u>Summary of Argument, and Substantive and</u> Procedural Facts.

The *unpublished* Court of Appeals decision at issue properly (i) followed well established decisional law, (ii) applied the correct standard of review and legal analysis for CR 60(b) motions and findings, (iii) determined that the Order, findings, and conclusions were within the bounds of reasonableness, and (iv) accepted the trial court's resolution of credibility and conflicting substantial evidence and its choice of possible

⁵ Pet. App. 002, 003–006.

reasonable inferences. The Decision provides no RAP 13.4 basis to grant review.

The Findings of Fact make plain that the lower court evaluated the witnesses' credibility, noted inconsistencies, resolved conflicting facts, and entered findings on the same. CP 4711-4731 (No. 1-58). (Pet. App. 026-053). The Decision correctly did not separately assess witness credibility or weigh evidence. The Decision also properly considered unchallenged findings of fact as verities.⁶

2006 Crash and 2013 Trial. Petitioner Channary Hor was tragically injured in 2006 as a passenger in a car that crashed into a rock wall at high speed. The drug intoxicated driver had fled a Seattle park after being approached by a Seattle police officer on foot in the early morning hours. The car crashed moments later.

⁶ Because Hor has not assigned error thereto, the following unchallenged Findings of Fact are verities on appeal: 1-7, 9-14, 16-19, 21, 23-32, 34-41, 43-52, and 54.

Seven years after the collision, Hor's 2013 4-week jury trial alleging negligence by the Seattle police department resulted in a defense verdict for the Seattle defendants, and a 17-million dollar verdict against the driver who was indigent and has been an absent party in this litigation. The driver did not attend the trial. The details of this incident and resulting litigation are summarized in the following earlier decisions.⁷

2017 News Stories. The current appeal originally stems from 2017 news stories concerning the tragic suicide of one of the involved police officers who came to Hor's aid in the immediate aftermath of the crash. The news reporters characterized out-of-court witness statements alleging that former officer and now deceased Aaron Grant lied at trial and committed suicide out of remorse. *Petition*, 3-18.

_

⁷ Hor v. City of Seattle, 18 Wn. App.2d 900, 493 P.3d 151 (2021), rev. den'd, 198 Wn.2d 1038, 501 P.3d 142 (2022) (Hor II); Hor v. City of Seattle, 189 Wn, App. 1016 (2015) (unpublished) (Hor I).

Twice the CR 60 trial court has denied Hor's CR 60(b) motion to vacate her judgment (in 2019 and 2023). Twice, Hor has asked this Court to grant review.⁸ Three appellate court decisions have followed this litigation.⁹

Procedure Following 2021 Remand. Most recently, the trial court allowed Hor to reopen discovery and granted Hor's motion to provide privileged City of Seattle records to the court for *in camera* review in her search for evidence to support her motion. The trial court conducted its review and found no evidence of misconduct by Seattle.¹⁰

At Hor's request, six current or former Lakewood Police employee witnesses were deposed via a court certified reporter and videographer. Such transcribed and video testimony was

⁸ Each request has been denied: 185 Wn.2d 1009 (2016); 198 Wn.2d 1038 (2022).

⁹ See supra.

¹⁰ "There is no evidence that any defendant or their counsel engaged in willful or deliberate discovery violations or other misconduct." CP 4732 (COL, No. 5, p. 25 (Pet. App. 050)).

presented to and evaluated by the trial court – along with all of the evidence presented by Hor. Amongst all of this voluminous evidence, the court was able to watch and evaluate these witnesses' 2022 sworn video depositions to include the witnesses' memory, bias, personal interest, manner, demeanor, and body language.

The trial court was also in a position to evaluate the reasonableness of the sworn deposition testimony against all of the evidence presented by the parties to include (i) each witness' separate deposition testimony, (ii) earlier 2017 depositions and declarations, (iii) Estes' and Wulff's disciplinary record and Estes' *Brady* designation, (iv) 2013 trial testimony, (v) uncontested "black box" collision data regarding the crashed vehicle speeds, time elapsed between leaving the park and crashing into the rock wall, and distance traveled from the park to the rock wall, (vi) the 2006 police radio broadcasts to include their timing and whether or not emergency sirens could be heard, and (vii) 2013 computer animation with audio played for the jury

(Sub. 793)). The 2013 trial evidence included the 2006 Grant and Thorp officer incident reports and subsequent sworn declarations, depositions and days of cross examination.¹¹

In support of her most recent CR 60 motion to vacate, Hor never sought a live witness evidentiary hearing below. Such was Hor's prerogative. CR 60(b) motions can be made upon documentary evidence alone, live witness testimony at an evidentiary hearing, deposition testimony, or a combination of these. CR 60(e)(1) ("...supported by the affidavit of the applicant or the applicant's attorney..."); CR 43(e)(1) ("When a motion is based on facts not appearing of record the court may hear the matter on affidavits presented by the respective parties, but the court may direct that the matter be heard wholly or partly

¹¹ See, Argument Section 4 infra.

¹² Dalton v. State, 130 Wn. App. 653, 667-668, 124 P.3d 305 (2005).

on oral testimony or depositions.").¹³ Any belated argument criticizing the absence of live testimony below provides no grounds for relief where the appealing party failed to make a request pursuant to CR 43(e)(1).¹⁴

As explained above, following a lengthy motion hearing and extensive oral argument, the trial court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and such were supported by substantial evidence.

Importantly, Hor's CR 60(b)(4) briefing here (or below), does not attempt to argue proof of the required nine elements of common law fraud, evidence of detrimental reliance on alleged misrepresentation,¹⁵ how the alleged misconduct prevented Hor from fully and fairly presenting her theory of the case, or discuss

¹³ *In re Marriage of Irwin*, 64 Wn. App. 38, 61, 822 P.2d 797 (1992) (analyzing whether or not to allow live testimony at a CR 60(b) hearing is discretionary).

¹⁴ E.g., In re Marriage of Rideout, at 352.

¹⁵ "Misrepresentation" requires proof of "a false statement of an existing fact." *Landstar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow,* 181 Wn. App. 109, 124, 325 P.3d 327 (2014).

at all Hor's CR 60 burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence. *See Petition*.

Hor simply failed her burden to demonstrate the CR 60(b)(4) legal standards and her ultimate burden of proof to demonstrate with clear and convincing evidence that fraud, misrepresentation, or misconduct caused the entry of the judgment such that Hor was prevented from fully and fairly presenting her theory of the case. Contrary to Hor's repeated arguments, this analysis illuminates Hor's CR 60 burden and not proximate cause. *Petition* at 6, 8, *passim*. In sum, the doctrine of finality of judgments is properly applied here.

B. Argument.

1. The Abuse of Discretion Standard was Properly Applied and There is No Conflict Between the Decision and a Decision of This Court or a Published Decision of Another Division of the Court of Appeals.

Petitioner's legal analysis of CR 60(b)(4) caselaw and its application to Hor's post-trial, factually complex case is contrary to well established Washington precedent. *Petition* at 19–28.

This Court applies the abuse of discretion standard to orders denying a CR 60(b)(4) motion to vacate: "A trial court's denial of a motion to vacate under CR 60(b) will not be overturned on appeal unless the court manifestly abused its discretion." Coogan v. Borg-Warner Morse Tec Inc., 197 Wn.2d 790, 820-821, 490 P.3d 200 (2021) (citing *Haley v. Highland*, 142 Wn.2d 135, 156, 12 P.3d 119 (2000) (citing In re Guardianship of Adamec, 100 Wn.2d 166, 173, 667 P.2d 1085 (1983)). The Coogan court further explained, "In our review for abuse of discretion, we may affirm the trial court on any basis that the record supports." Coogan, 197 Wn.2d at 820 (citing State v. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d 784, 799, 453 P.3d 696 (2019) (citing LaMon v. Butler, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200-01, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989)).

This Court approves of the *Lindgren* analysis and its progeny: "Relief under CR 60(b)(4) is appropriate when the party challenging the judgment "establish[es] ... by clear and convincing evidence" that it "was prevented from fully and fairly presenting its case or defense" due to "fraud, misrepresentation,

or other misconduct of an adverse party." *Coogan*, 197 Wn.2d at 821 (citing *Lindgren v. Lindgren*, 58 Wn. App. 588, 596, 794 P.2d 526 (1990 Div. 1) (citing *Peoples State Bank v. Hickey*, 55 Wn. App. 367, 372, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989)).

Division One correctly followed this established Washington precedent. The trial court's denial of CR 60 relief will ordinarily not be disturbed unless it clearly appears that it abused its discretion. Decision at 4; Hor II, 912–13 (citing Lindgren v. Lindgren, 58 Wn. App. 588, 595). See also In re Vulnerable Adult Pet. for Winter v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Servs., 12 Wn. App. 2d 815, 829, 460 P.3d 667 (2020) (using abuse of discretion standard); In re Marriage of Schneiderman, 189 Wn. App. 1036, 2015 Wash. App. LEXIS 1977 *16 (2015) (unpublished) (cited pursuant to GR 14.1) ("Therefore, we review CR 60(b) orders for abuse of discretion;" analyzing trial record, post-trial analysis of declarations, transcripts, and extensive documentary evidence by a new trial court).

Findings of fact addressing all nine elements of common law fraud are required if fraud is relied upon to grant a CR(b)(4) motion. Schneiderman, 189 Wn. App. 1036 at *15, (citing In re Marriage of Maddix, 41 Wn. App. 248, 252, 703 P.2d 1062 (1985)). Such is otherwise helpful to the appellate courts to assess the trial court's discretionary decision-making. Though not required, findings can also be entered to analyze CR 60(b)(4) misrepresentation and misconduct to explain the court's discretionary decision making. See, e.g., In re Marriage of Bresnahan, 21 Wn. App. 2d 385, 406, 505 P.3d 1218 (2022) (internal citations omitted). "A trial court may vacate a judgment based on fraud and enter findings and conclusions establishing the nine elements of common law fraud." Id. It can also vacate based on misrepresentations or other misconduct with or without entering such findings. Id.

Related to the abuse of discretion standard, the deferential substantial evidence analysis applies to CR 60(b)(4) findings. "When the trial court makes [CR 60(b)(4)] findings of fact and

credibility determinations based on affidavits alone, we must determine whether substantial evidence supports those findings..." *Schneiderman*, 189 Wn. App. 1036 at *17 (citing *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 350-51, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003) (in contempt proceeding considered solely on written submissions, including declarations and affidavits, substantial evidence standard applied to findings)). ¹⁶ Further, any misrepresentation or misconduct must have been relied upon by the moving party. *Id.* at *15. ¹⁷

The Decision is in accord with this well-established precedent:

The trial court's [CR 60(b)] factual findings [regarding misrepresentation and misconduct] are

¹⁶ "Substantial evidence" is "a quantum of evidence sufficient to persuade a rational fair-minded person the premise is true." *Sutey v. T26 Corp.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 737, 750 (2020) (discussing CR 60(b) findings of fact) (citation omitted).

¹⁷ Findings in support of an Order *granting* a CR 60(b)(4) motion must be supported by substantial evidence that is "highly probable" due to the moving party's clear and convincing burden of proof. *Schneiderman*, 189 Wn. App. 1036 at *17 (italics added).

reviewed for substantial evidence, meaning evidence "sufficient to persuade a rational fairminded person the premise is true." Winter, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 829-3 (quoting Sunnyside Valley Irrig. Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879, 73 P.3d 369 (2003)). Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. In re Est. of Little, 9 Wn. App. 2d 262, 274, 444 P.3d 23 (2019). We review conclusions of law de novo. Id. at 275. We do not assess credibility or weigh evidence. Dalton, 130 Wn. App. at 656.

In re Marriage of Bresnahan, 21 Wn. App. 2d 385, 406-407 (written findings of fact entered on a CR 60(b)(4) motion after reviewing voluminous declarations and documentary evidence; order and findings affirmed on abuse of discretion and substantial evidence standards); accord, In re Vulnerable Adult Pet. for Winter, 12 Wn. App. 2d 815, 829 ("The superior court's [CR 60(b)] factual findings are reviewed for substantial evidence.")

Contrary to Hor's arguments, no controlling Washington caselaw supports applying a less deferential standard in a CR 60(b)(4) context. *E.g., In re Marriage of Maddix,* 41 Wn. App. 248 (1985 Div. 3); *People's Bank v. Hickey,* 55 Wn. App. 367, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989 Div. 1); *Dalton v. State,* 130 Wn. App. 653,

124 P.3d 305 (2005 Div. 3); *Sutey v. T26 Corp.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 737, 466 P.3d 1096 (2020 Div. 1); *In re Marriage of Bresnahan*, 21 Wn. App.2d 385, 406 (2022 Div. 2).

This Court is well versed with the abuse of discretion standard as it applies to a CR 60(b)(4) motion. *See Coogan, supra*. The Decision does not conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of another division of the Court of Appeals.

Even where the appellate court may disagree with the lower court's denial of a CR 60(b) motion, the order "must be upheld if it 'is within the bounds of reasonableness." *Lindgren*, 58 Wn. App. at 595. Even where the trial court rejects several witnesses' conflicting CR 60(b)(4) testimony in favor of one witness, the appellate court is precluded from rejecting the lower court's discretion that is based on a credibility assessment. *Dalton v. State*, 130 Wn. App. 653, 667-668, 124 P.3d 305 (2005).

Where the movant was not prevented from presenting its theory of the case at trial, the motion is properly denied.

...there must be some connection between the misrepresentation and obtaining the judgment. *See Hickey*, 55 Wn. App. at 372. The rule is aimed at judgments that were unfairly obtained. *Dalton*, 130 Wn. App. at 668. Therefore, the wrongful conduct must have "prevented a full and fair presentation" of the moving party's case. *Id.* at 665, 668. Fraud or misconduct that is harmless will not support a motion to vacate. 4 KARL B. TEGLAND, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: RULES PRACTICE § 8, at 613 (6th ed. 2013).

Schneiderman, 189 Wn. App. 1036 at *15-16; see also In re Marriage of Lehmann, 26 Wn. App. 2d 1003, 2023 LEXIS 585 *7, *11 (2023) (unpublished) (analyzing trial record and extensive CR 60(b) evidence and alleged false trial testimony).

2. The Voluminous Record Was Properly Evaluated Under the 2011 *Dolan* Decision Parameters and There is No Conflict Between the Decision and a Decision of This Court, or a Published Decision of Another Division of the Court of Appeals.

Petitioner's analysis of this Court's 2011 *Dolan* decision¹⁸

18

¹⁸ Dolan v. King County, 172 Wn.2d 299, 258 P.3d 20 (2011).

misconstrues the holding and its application to Hor's case. Petition at 19–28. The Decision correctly followed this Court's Dolan decision when it applied the abuse of discretion standard to the trial court's CR 60 discretionary decisions and the substantial evidence standard to the trial court's findings:

Most importantly, this approach is consistent with our Supreme Court's later important holding that, "where competing documentary evidence must be weighed and issues of credibility resolved, the substantial evidence standard is appropriate."

Decision at 5 (citing *Dolan v. King County*, 172 Wn.2d 299, 310).

The Decision further highlighted this Court's explanatory precedent as follows:

Appellate courts give deference to trial courts on a *sliding scale* based on how much assessment of credibility is required; the less the outcome depends on credibility, the less deference is given to the trial court. Washington has thus applied a de novo standard in the context of a purely written record where the trial court made no determination of witness credibility. However, substantial evidence is *more appropriate*, even if the credibility of witnesses is not specifically at issue, in cases such as this

where the trial court reviewed an enormous amount of documentary evidence, weighed that evidence, resolved inevitable evidentiary conflicts and discrepancies, and issued statutorily mandated written findings.

Decision at 5 (citing *Dolan* at 311) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

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